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Julie L Jones 
Secretary 
Florida Department of Corrections 
501 South Calhoun Street 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2500 

Dear Secretary Jones: 

I am pleased to present the Office of Inspector General (OIG) Annual Report for Fiscal Year 2017-2018, 
provided pursuant to the mandate of Section 20.055(8), Florida Statutes. This report outlines the 
activities and accomplishments of the OIG for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2018. 

This report delineates activities, accomplishments and outcomes performed by the highly dedicated and 
professional OIG team. Through our audits, environmental health and safety inspections, as well as 
administrative and criminal investigations, we strive to provide objective and independent products to 
the Department and external partners. The Office of Inspector General staff is committed to promoting 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness, to aid the Department in accomplishing its critical mission of 
providing a continuum of services to meet the needs of those entrusted to their care, creating a safe and 
professional environment with the outcome of reduced victimization, safer communities and an 
emphasis on the premium of life. 

This year, I have included information in this report related to a number of internal and external factors 
which have caused a quantifiable and harmful impact on resources. The challenges the OIG has 
encountered involved enduring staffing losses and recruitment setbacks as a result of the inadvertent 
negative consequences of new legislation. Our Office of Investigations continues to work toward 
addressing an unmanageable caseload. Some positive progress has been made by setting specific 
investigative priorities, streamlining processes, and focusing on solvability factors to improve workflow. 
However, greater strides toward improvement and achieving manageable workload levels could be 
attained faster by increasing our current investigative human capital levels and complementing resource 
requirements. 

We look ahead to working cooperatively and in close coordination with Department leadership, and state­
wide internal and external stakeholders to turn challenges into opportunities for improvement of 
Florida's correctional and community release programs. 

Lester Fernandez 
Inspector General 
LF/prs 

*INSPIRING SUCCESS BY TRANSFORMING ONE LIFE AT A TIME• 
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OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL EARNS ACCREDIATION  

In October 2015, the Office of Inspector General earned 
accreditation status through the Commission for Florida Law 
Enforcement Accreditation. This is the first time in the history of the 
Department that the Office has earned accreditation. Being 
accredited has long been recognized as a means of maintaining 
the highest standards of professionalism. Accreditation is the 
certification by an independent reviewing authority, in our case the 
Commission for Florida Law Enforcement Accreditation, that an 
entity has met specific requirements and prescribed standards. 
Schools, universities, and hospitals are some of the most well-
known organizations that are required to maintain accreditation. 
The 2015 Commission Assessment Team Report to the Commission stated, “[t]he Florida 
Department of Corrections’, Office of the Inspector General is a professional, well trained, 
well managed and enthusiastic unit and has embraced the culture of the accreditation 
process.” The Office will seek re-accreditation status through the Commission in the fall 
of 2018. 
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Bureau Organization and Responsibilities 

The Bureau of Internal Audit comprises three sections: (1) Internal Audit (2) Contract 
Management Review and (3) Environmental Health and Safety. These sections report to 
the Bureau Chief, a Certified Internal Auditor, who functions as the Director of Auditing. 
The Bureau of Internal Audit conducts compliance, performance, and information 
technology audits and contract reviews pursuant to Section 20.055, Florida Statutes. To 
accomplish the mission and to achieve the goals of the Bureau of Internal Audit, staff 
perform audits and contract management reviews designed to identify systemic issues 
that impact the economy and efficiency of the Department’s operations and programs 
and/or to identify internal control deficiencies in the prevention, deterrence, and detection 
of fraud. The Bureau views its audit and contract management review mandate as an 
opportunity to not only identify deficiencies and problems with statewide impact, but also 
to identify areas that are well designed and are meeting management’s goals.  All audits 
are conducted in accordance with the current International Standards for the Professional 
Practice of Internal Auditing published by the Institute of Internal Auditors.   

The Bureau also conducts inspections pursuant to Section 944.31, Florida Statutes, that 
requires the Department’s Office of Inspector General to inspect each correctional 
institution or any place in which inmates are housed, worked, or kept within the state, with 
reference to its physical conditions, cleanliness, sanitation, safety, and comfort. 

The internal audit staff possesses accounting and auditing experience. During Fiscal Year 
2017-18, the Bureau of Internal Audit began the process to upgrade one of its positions 
to a Computer Audit Analyst to enhance the Bureau’s information technology auditing 
experience. The hiring of the position is expected to be completed during Fiscal Year 
2018-19. Staff are required to maintain professional proficiency through continuing 
education and training. Staff are active in the following professional organizations: 
Institute of Internal Auditors, Information Systems Audit and Control Association, and 
Association of Inspectors General.  

Internal Audit Section 

This section employs an audit supervisor and four auditors who perform compliance, 
performance, and information technology audits. Staff certifications include two Certified 
Internal Auditors, one Certified Public Accountant, one Certified Government Auditing 
Professional, and one Certified Fraud Examiner. 
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During Fiscal Year 2017-18, the Internal Audit section completed five audits, four follow-
up audits, and one review as listed in the following table by report date.  

Fiscal Year 2017-18 Audit Reports and Reviews 

Report 
Number 

Project Title Report Date 

A17006 Audit of Inmate Release Gratuity 07/18/17 

A17009 Audit of Forced Cell Extraction Training  09/5/17 

A17016F Follow-up Audit of Prison Rehabilitative Industries and 
Diversified Enterprises – Accounts Receivable 

11/16/17  

A17002 Audit of Inmate Trust Fund Information Technology Controls 12/19/17 

R18002 Review of Inmate Deaths 02/1/18 

A17023F Follow-Up Audit of Basic Recruit Training 02/13/18  

A17019 Audit of Regional Evidence Control Areas 03/2/18  

A17018 Audit of Inmate Trust Fund Deposits and Withdrawals 06/26/18 

A18010F Follow-up Audit of Auditor General’s Report No. 2018-082 06/27/18  

A18009F Follow-up Audit of Auditor General’s Report No. 2018-039 06/29/18  

   Source: Bureau of Internal Audit 
 

Audit Engagements  

Audit Engagement Reports issued in Fiscal Year 2017-18 included: 

Audit of Inmate Release Gratuity 

In most areas, audit staff found that the control processes for debit cards are in 
compliance with Department Procedure 203.005. Audit staff also found that internal 
controls had been established for the debit cards. However, audit staff identified the 
following issues that warrant management’s attention: 

Finding: Personnel perform incompatible duties pertaining to the debit card process. 

Recommendation: The Bureau of Finance and Accounting assign the responsibilities of 
performing reconciliations to an employee independent of the debit card process. 

Finding: Inmate signature logs are not always returned to the Custodian at Lowell 
Correctional Institution and Martin Correctional Institution. 

Recommendation: The Office of Institutions take steps to ensure that the weekly 
signature logs are returned as required by procedure. 

Finding: The Debit Card Control Logs at Calhoun Correctional Institution and Suwannee 
Correctional Institution contained inaccurate debit card numbers.   
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Abe Brown Ministries, Inc. Contract C2854 

Contract Management Review staff determined that Abe Brown Ministries was 
substantially compliant with requirements of the contract. Contract Management Review 
staff determined invoices were properly documented and the amount paid was in 
accordance with the contract. However, deficiencies were noted with the Department’s 
monitoring, Abe Brown Ministries’ submission of required reports, and contract language 
concerning tuberculosis screening/testing. 

Finding: There is no documentation that the Department approved or disapproved Abe 
Brown Ministries’ Corrective Action Plan. 

Recommendation: The Office of Administration and Division of Development: 
Improvement and Readiness ensure Corrective Action Plans are approved or 
disapproved. 

Finding: Abe Brown Ministries did not always submit the Quality Improvement Report. 

Recommendation: The Office of Administration and Division of Development: 
Improvement and Readiness ensure Abe Brown Ministries continues to submit the Quality 
Improvement Report as required by the contract.  

Finding: The contract contains language that conflicts with Procedure 401.015 in regards 
to tuberculosis screening/testing. 

Recommendation: The Office of Administration and Division of Development: 
Improvement and Readiness amend the contract to include language that ensures that 
Abe Brown Ministries staff and volunteers who perform their duties in an institution are 
screened and/or tested for tuberculosis as required by Department Procedure 401.015. 

Operation New Hope, Inc. Contract C2855 

Contract Management Review staff determined that Operation New Hope was 
substantially compliant with the requirements of the contract. Contract Management 
Review staff found the delivery of contracted services was effectively verified and properly 
monitored by the Office of Administration and Division of Development: Improvement and 
Readiness on an annual basis as required by the contract. Contract Management Review 
staff determined invoices were properly documented, and the amount paid was in 
accordance with the contract. However, Contract Management Review staff determined 
that the contract contains language that conflicts with Department procedure in regards 
to tuberculosis screening/testing. 

Finding: The contract contains language that conflicts with Procedure 401.015 in regards 
to tuberculosis screening/testing. 

Recommendation: The Office of Administration and Division of Development: 
Improvement and Readiness amend the contract to include language that ensures 
Operation New Hope staff and volunteers that perform their duties in institutions are 
screened and/or tested for tuberculosis as required by Department Procedure 401.015. 
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The table below represents the investigative outcome of the cases the Office of 
Inspector General investigated for Fiscal Year 2017-18: 

 

Case Disposition Subjects 

Exonerated   9  

Not Sustained  401 

Sustained 941  

Closed by Arrest 294 

Exceptionally Cleared 648 

Unfounded 694  

TOTAL      2,987 

         Source:  IGIIS for 07/01/2017 to 06/30/2018 

 

The table below represents breakdown of subjects in the investigations and the number 
of arrests for Fiscal Year 2017-18: 

 

Subjects Arrests 

Inmate/Offender 196  

Employees  81 

Non-Employees2 17  

TOTAL      294 

 Source:  IGIIS for 07/01/2017 to 06/30/2018 

 

Exonerated refers to a finding in an administrative case for which a preponderance of 
evidence exists to suggest the subject’s behavior or action did occur and was consistent 
with Department procedure, rule, or other authority. 

  

                                                           
2 Non-employees are defined as visitors, contractors, or other persons not employed by the agency. 
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Exceptionally Cleared refers to a disposition of a criminal case for which probable cause 
exists that an identified suspect committed the offense, but one for which an arrest or 
formal charge is not initiated. 

Closed by Arrest refers to a disposition of a criminal case for which probable cause 
exists that an identified suspect committed the offense and an arrest or formal prosecution 
proceeding has been initiated. 

Not Sustained refers to a finding in an administrative case for which a preponderance of 
evidence does not reasonably establish the subject’s behavior or action either complied 
with or violated or was contrary to Department procedure, rule, or other authority. 

Sustained refers to a finding in an administrative case for which a preponderance of 
evidence exists to suggest the subject’s behavior or action did occur and was contrary to 
Department procedure, rule, or other authority. 

Unfounded refers to, in an administrative context, a finding in an administrative case for 
which a preponderance of evidence exists to suggest the subject’s behavior or action did 
not occur and, in a criminal context, a disposition of a criminal case for which a 
preponderance of the evidence exists to suggest the suspect’s alleged behavior or action 
did not occur. 

Florida Department of Law Enforcement Criminal Justice Standards and Training 
Commission  

The Florida Department of Corrections, Office of Inspector General maintains a strong 
professional working relationship with the Florida Department of Law Enforcement, 
Criminal Justice Standards and Training Commission (CJSTC).  Specifically, within the 
Florida Department of Law Enforcement is the Criminal Justice Professionalism Division, 
in which the Office of Inspector General is responsive and accountable to, in providing 
CJSTC-78 Internal Investigation Report referrals, reporting the disposition of an 
investigation in which the subject was a sworn law enforcement officer, correctional officer 
or correctional probation officer as defined in Section 943.10, Florida Statutes. This 
accountability and reporting by the Office of Inspector General provides the means for the 
licensing authority of the State of Florida for Sworn Officers, the ability to review and 
administer appropriate administrative sanctions against the officer’s certification in 
instances when an officer is found in violation of Florida Statutes and/or Commission 
standards.   
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Examples of Investigation Case Summaries 

Columbia Correctional Institution - Introduction of Contraband, Case Number 18-09929  

Security staff at Columbia Correctional Institution observed a drone hovering over the 
perimeter fence behind an inmate dormitory. A roving patrol officer responded to the area, 
and the drone flew into a wooded area behind the institution. Security staff then noticed 
that the drone appeared to crash into a tree off state property. Security staff alerted local 
law enforcement, who responded to the area and recovered the drone. The drone had a 
payload of six cell phones that were wrapped in black tape. 

After a comprehensive investigation by a Law Enforcement Inspector with the Florida 
Department of Corrections’ Office of Inspector General, a suspect was identified and 
taken into custody and charged with six counts of introduction of contraband and one 
count of unlawful use of a two-way communication device. 

Florida State Prison - Introduction of Contraband, Case Number 16-20507 

An allegation was made that a correctional officer was smuggling in drugs and cell phones 
at Florida State Prison. Sworn witness interviews were conducted in which the witnesses 
alleged that the correctional officer was receiving payments from an inmate’s friends for 
illegal actions. Through investigative leads and physical evidence, it was determined that 
the correctional officer was receiving monies from family members of inmates 
incarcerated at Florida State Prison. It was proven based on evidence obtained, the 
correctional officer was engaged in the selling of cell phones and drugs to inmates. 
Forensic analysis of evidence supported the fact that the correctional officer committed 
the crimes of Introduction of Contraband, Unlawful Compensation or Reward for Official 
Behavior, and Bribery. A warrant was obtained for the correctional officer’s arrest. The 
correctional officer was arrested and subsequently plead guilty to Bribery, and 
Introduction of Contraband (controlled substance, cell phones in prison). The correctional 
officer was sentenced to 30 months and fined $723. 

Florida State Prison - Introduction of Contraband, Case Number 17-01907 

An allegation was made that a correctional officer was smuggling in drugs and cell phones 
at the Florida State Prison West Unit. Sworn witness interviews were conducted in which 
the witnesses alleged that the correctional officer was in business with inmates to sell the 
cell phones and drugs to other inmates in the prison. Through investigative leads and 
physical evidence, it was determined that the correctional officer was receiving monies 
from family members of inmates incarcerated at the Florida State Prison West Unit. It was 
proven based on evidence obtained that the correctional officer met friends of the inmates 
who provided drugs, cell phones, and payment for illegal items to be smuggled by the 
officer, while the officer was in uniform at a convenience store. Forensic analysis of 
evidence supported the fact that the correctional officer committed the crimes of 
Introduction of Contraband, Unlawful Compensation or Reward for Official Behavior, and 
Bribery. A warrant was obtained for the correctional officer’s arrest. In a sworn recorded 
post Miranda interview, the correctional officer confessed to Unlawful Compensation, 
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Baker Correctional Institution - Aggravated Battery, Case Number 16-01104 

Staff members observed two inmates fighting in the dorm and attempted to quell the 
incident by separating the two inmates. During the separation, one inmate broke free from 
the custodial grasp of the officer and ran towards the other inmate, striking him on the left 
side of the head with a clenched fist. The inmate fell, striking his head on the bunk and 
then on the concrete floor.  

It was proven based on the evidence and witness testimony obtained in the investigation, 
the inmate did commit the crime of Battery by a person that is being detained on a 
detainee. The inmate was adjudicated guilty, sentenced to two years and one month, with 
credit for 562 days; and assessed $1,075 court costs/fines. 

Baker Correctional Institution - Battery on Law Enforcement Officer, Case Number 15-
8789   

Staff alleged an inmate refused orders to return to his assigned bunk and began walking 
around the dorm while removing his clothing. The inmate was ordered to cease his 
actions, to no avail. The inmate approached the female officer and grabbed her breasts. 
Based on the evidence and witness testimony obtained in the investigation, the inmate 
did commit the Battery on a Law Enforcement Officer and Lewd and Lascivious Exhibition 
in the presence of an employee. The inmate was adjudicated guilty on the Third-Degree 
Felony charge of Battery on an Officer and sentenced to one year and seven days, with 
credit for 150 days incarceration time, and assessed $1,075 court costs/fines. The charge 
of Lewd and Lascivious Exhibition was Nolle Prosecuted by the State. 

Gulf Correctional Institution - Excessive Use of Force, Case Number 15-3548 

An investigation was initiated for an excessive force allegation involving a correctional 
officer. Initially the use of force was the result of an inmate allegedly brandishing a 
homemade weapon during a reported strip search after the inmate failed to clear a hand-
held metal detector. Due to the injuries sustained by the inmate being inconsistent with 
the incident reports submitted by security staff, the incident reports along with digital 
photographs were reviewed. Numerous inmate interviews were conducted that 
contradicted the reports submitted by security staff involved in the use of force. Laboratory 
submissions were conducted to detect the presence of blood and chemical agents on the 
recovered weapon allegedly used by the inmate. During the use of force a significant 
amount of blood was found at the scene based on digital photographs. Testing by the 
Florida Department of Law Enforcement Crime Laboratory found no blood on the weapon. 
The investigation was presented to the U.S. Attorney’s office where jurisdiction was 
accepted. A case was initiated by the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI).   

Another former Correctional Officer was interviewed by U.S. Attorney. The former 
correctional officer disclosed that he was a witness to the incident, and the inmate was 
compliant and never had a weapon during the search. The investigation was presented 
to a Federal Grand Jury with an indictment for one (1) count of Deprivation of Rights 
Under Color of Law in violation of Title 18 United States Code, Section 242. The 
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correctional officer involved in the use of force was arrested and plead not guilty before a 
Federal Magistrate. The case went to trial in Federal Court where a jury found the 
correctional officer guilty. The correctional officer was sentenced to 21 months in the 
Federal Bureau of Prisons with one year of supervised release to follow.   

Lancaster Correctional Institution - Unlawful Compensation, Case Number 18-00645 

A correctional officer found a telephone number in an inmate’s property. The telephone 
number was determined to be that of a food service employee. Through an investigation, 
it was discovered that the food service employee received money on at least five 
occasions for the purpose of introducing contraband into the institution for inmates. During 
a post Miranda interview, the food service employee confessed to receiving money for 
the purpose of introducing contraband. The suspect was charged with Unlawful 
Compensation, adjudicated guilty, and sentenced to 36 months supervised probation and 
court costs. 

Lancaster Correctional Institution - Introduction of Contraband, Case Number 16-19442 

Intelligence was received indicating that an inmate’s family member was involved in the 
introduction of K-2 and other contraband into the Lancaster Correctional Institution Work 
Camp. Through surveillance and additional investigative techniques, the family member 
was identified and ultimately arrested for the possession of synthetic narcotic and 
Introduction of Contraband into a State facility. The defendant was sentenced to 120 days 
in jail and five years of probation along with court and supervision costs. 

Lancaster Correctional Institution - Unlawful Compensation and Introduction of 
Contraband, Case Number 16-15697 

Intelligence was received alleging that a vocational instructor was introducing tobacco 
products into Lancaster Correctional Institution in exchange for money. During the 
investigation, it was determined that the vocational instructor was providing the tobacco 
products to gang members who were in turn selling the tobacco inside the institution. The 
vocational instructor was caught attempting to enter the facility with tobacco hidden on 
his person. During a post Miranda interview, the staff member admitted to smuggling 
tobacco into the institution on three occasions in exchange for money.   

The staff member was arrested and booked into jail for the charges of Unlawful 
Compensation and Introduction of Contraband. The staff member was sentenced to three 
years of probation and courts costs.  

Cross City Correctional Institution - Battery on a Law Enforcement Officer, Case Number 
17-09591 

A correctional officer was grabbed around the waist by an inmate, who picked up the 
officer and attempted to throw the officer over a second-floor railing. The officer was able 
to avoid going over the railing but was slammed to the concrete walkway where the inmate 
continued to assault the officer.   
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An investigation was conducted culminating in the inmate’s arrest for Battery on a Law 
Enforcement Officer. The inmate was later adjudicated guilty and sentenced to one year 
and one day incarceration by the Florida Department of Corrections to be followed by four 
years supervised probation. 

Northwest Florida Reception Center - Physical Abuse, Case Number 15-35 

The Office of Inspector General received information alleging that a correctional officer 
physically abused an inmate. Upon notification, a criminal investigation was initiated. This 
case was investigated by the Office of Inspector General and the Federal Bureau of 
Investigation. The investigation found that the correctional officer did strike the inmate. 
The correctional officer entered a guilty plea, and was adjudicated guilty as to Count 1 – 
Title 18 U.S. Code, Section 242, Deprivation of Civil Rights under Color of Law. The 
correctional officer was sentenced to 10 months in federal prison to be followed by 12 
months of federal probation.  

Jackson Correctional Institution - Aggravated Assault, Case Number 15-14839 

Security staff received information related to armed inmates and an impending 
disturbance. In response, correctional officers were conducting inmate searches at the 
center gate. One of the correctional officers located a homemade knife concealed in an 
inmate’s pants. While attempting to disarm the inmate, the inmate snatched away from 
the correctional officer and withdrew the homemade knife from his pants. Correctional 
officers pursued the inmate during which time chemical agents were applied. The inmate 
continued to defy staff and attempted to stab two correctional officers before being 
disarmed and restrained. 

An investigation was conducted into the incident. The State Attorney accepted the case 
for prosecution. The inmate was charged with two counts of Aggravated Assault for 
attempting to stab the correctional officers. The inmate entered a plea of Nolo-Contendere 
for both counts. The inmate was adjudicated and sentenced to a concurrent term of 18 
months for each count in the Florida Department of Corrections to run consecutive to his 
current prison sentence. 

Apalachee Correctional Institution - Deprivation of Rights Under Color of Law, Case 
Number 15-14839 

An investigation was initiated for an excessive force allegation at Apalachee Correctional 
Institution West Unit involving four officers (Major, Lieutenant, Sergeant, and a 
correctional officer). Initially the use of force was reported to be a staff assault where an 
inmate attacked the Major by head butting. Upon arrival at the crime scene, the physical 
evidence did not match the story initially reported by the officers. Florida Department of 
Law Enforcement crime scene responded and processed the scene. The clothing of the 
officers involved, including their boots, was taken as evidence. An FBI agent initiated a 
case for a joint investigation. 

  



 

 

Florida Department of Corrections Page 30          Office of Inspector General  
  

All the officers on duty the day of the incident were interviewed. All the officers indicated 
upon their initial arrival the office was not in disarray and the only thing out of place was 
a blood spot on the floor where the inmate’s head was lying. The Major’s secretary was 
in the office during portions of the fight. The secretary was interviewed several times and 
eventually offered to provide testimony to the U.S. Attorney which discredited the story 
the officers told in their official reports.  

The Sergeant came forward to the U.S. Attorney and indicated the official report he signed 
was not written by him but provided for him to sign. The Sergeant indicated the report 
was not accurate and indicated that the Major move towards the inmate, and the inmate 
was not resisting or moving at the point the Major and inmate’s head collided. At the point 
where their heads collided, the Major started swinging fists and striking the inmate. While 
taking the inmate to the ground, the Sergeant struck his head against the inmate and was 
dazed.  

The correctional officer indicated in testimony that he was present when the Major called 
on the radio for assistance. While the correctional officer was in the office, he did not see 
the inmate grab anyone and did not see anyone kick or hit the inmate. This testimony 
directly discredited the Major’s incident report and use of force report which indicated that 
when the Major stood up to get his radio from the desk and call for help, the inmate 
grabbed the Major’s leg and attempted to pull the Major to the ground. At this point, the 
Major kicked the inmate in the head twice to make the inmate release him. This was the 
point where the Major called on the radio for help.  

FBI Crime Laboratory recreated a scale model of the Major’s office and contents for 
evidence at the trial. The Assistant U.S. Attorney presented the evidence and testimony 
of witnesses to a Federal Grand Jury which indicted the Major for one (1) count of 
Deprivation of Rights Under Color of Law in violation of Title 18 United States Code, 
Section 242; and one (1) count of Destruction, Alteration, or Falsification of Records in a 
Federal Investigation in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1519.  

The Major was arrested and pled not guilty before a Federal Magistrate. The case went 
to trial in Federal Court in Panama City, Florida where a jury found the Major guilty. A 
Federal Judge sentenced the Major to 60 months in the Federal Bureau of Prisons with 
one year of supervised release to follow.  

Monetary or Financial Recoveries for the State of Florida Involving Florida 
Department of Corrections Bureau of Investigations Criminal Cases.  

Forfeiture of Retirement Benefits of State Employees Found Guilty of Felony Crimes 
While in the Performance of their Official State Duties:  

Pursuant to Florida State Statue 112.3173, the Florida Department of Corrections, Office 
of Inspector General, noticed the Department of Management Services/Division of 
Retirement and the Florida State Board of Administration when State employees are 
arrested for felonies involving breach of public trust and other specified offenses by public 
officers and employees. The Department of Management Services or the Florida State 
Board of Administration places a hold or block on the state funded pension or retirement 
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account of the individual arrested. Then, upon any conviction involving these felony 
offenses, the Department of Management Services or the Florida State Board of 
Administration conducts the final forfeiture order through their Legal Division.  

The table below represents by type of retirement plan the number of forfeitures and those 
under review as of June 30, 2018.  

 

Retirement 
Plans 

Department 
FDC Staff 

Retirement 
Forfeitures 

FDC Staff 
Retirement 

Forfeitures Under 
Review 

Total 

Pension Plan 
Management 

Services 
4  10  14  

Investment 
Plan 

State Board of 
Administration 

 0  5 5  

  Source: Department of Management Services/Division of Retirement and the Florida State Board of Administration 

Special Investigations Unit 

Special Investigations Unit proactively targets complex public corruption, organized 
racketeering and criminal gang activities and all other crimes related to contraband 
introduction, bribery, money laundering and terrorism. 

OPERATIONS FUNCTION 

The Florida Department of Corrections, Office of Inspector General, has additional 
responsibilities beyond conducting audits and investigations. The responsibilities 
represent a substantial workload for the Office of Inspector General and include 
performing reviews use of force incidents, responding to requests for records, and 
processing complaints.   

Use of Force Unit 

Established in 1999, the Use of Force Unit is responsible for reviewing all incidents 
involving the use of force at state and private correctional facilities, and those involving 
probation officers. These reviews ensure compliance with established rules, procedures, 
and statutes. 

To accomplish this mission, the Use of Force Unit independently reviews and evaluates 
all use of force incident reports, associated documents, and videotapes as required from 
each correctional facility or office. Evidence indicating possible procedural violations, 
inmate abuse, excessive/improper/unauthorized force, or battery by staff is referred to 
Investigations.  
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Uses of force are classified as major incidents whenever weapons, the chemical agent 
Ortho-Chlorobenzalmalononitrile “CS” or electronic restraint devices are used; when 
force is used in a cell extraction; or when outside medical treatment is required for 
employees or inmates as a result of the use of force.  Other physical contact with inmates, 
including use of the chemical agent Oleoresin Capsicum “OC,” is classified as minor.  

The following table reflects use of force incidents reported to the unit in Fiscal Year 2017-
18.  

Classification Reason Force Was Used Number 

27A Self Defense 1,301  

27B Escape/Recapture 1  

27C Prevent Escape During Transport 1  

27D Prevent Property Damage 101  

27E Quell a Disturbance 1,368  

27F Physical Resistance to a Lawful Command 7,369  

27G Prevent Suicide 949   

27H Restrain Inmate for Medical Treatment 51  

27I Cell Extraction 257   

27J Mental Health Restraint 9  

27K Probation & Parole Handcuffing 1   

27O Other 40  

TOTAL 11,448 

             Source: IGIIS for 07/01/2017 to 06/30/2018 

As illustrated by the following chart, the number of uses of force has increased over the 
last three years. From Fiscal Year 2014-15 to Fiscal Year 2017-18, the number of use of 
force incidents has increased by 85%. In Fiscal Year 2017-18, 483 of the reported uses 
of force were found not to be in compliance with Florida Administrative Code and were 
disapproved. 

                                                           
3 This does not represent the total as many other Uses of Force reported in the year are pending review either due 
to an investigation or pending Disciplinary Action Review Team. 
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In addition, the Records Unit maintains the portal for all case information for the state.  
This includes the tracking and updating of case information as it is submitted, received, 
and closed out. The processing of information for submission to the Criminal Justice 
Professionalism Division of Florida Department of law Enforcement is also handled by 
Records Unit staff.  

 Intake Unit and “Prison TIPS Line” 

The "Prison TIPS Line" serves as a portal for the reporting of information related to:  

• Crimes; 

• Fraud, waste, or misuse of public funds; 

• Violation of the Prison Rape Elimination Act; 

• Human Trafficking; and 

• Abuse, intimidation, neglect or exploitation of the elderly/disabled. 

While the "Prison TIPS Line" was established for the specific purpose of reporting the 
types of incidents listed above, other types of information are also routinely reported on 
the "Prison TIPS line."  Some examples include gang activity, the location of contraband 
or weapons, threats against staff or inmates, probation violations, absconder locations, 
suspected abuse of inmates' children, and requests by inmates for interviews. 

Inmates, probationers, or any other person that has knowledge of these types of activities 
can use the " Prison TIPS Line" to provide information anonymously.  Inmates can access 
the "Prison TIPS Line" by dialing *TIPS (Star 8477) from any inmate phone within a 
Department facility.  Civilians, employees, and inmates housed at private facilities can 
access the "Prison TIPS Line" by calling a toll-free number (1-866-246-4412). 

Inmates have the option of requesting a voice mailbox, which can be accessed using a 
unique pass code. The voice mailbox provides a mechanism which the caller may 
exchange messages and information with the Office of Inspector General. The voice 
mailbox may also be used anonymously. 

The "Prison TIPS Line" was accessed over 11,000 times during Fiscal Year 2017-18, with 
the callers leaving 4,112 messages. Of those messages, 3,276 were left by offenders 
housed within Department facilities. The remaining 836 messages were left by members 
of the public or by offenders housed in private facilities. 

Calls are reviewed, analyzed, prioritized, and referred for handling by the Intake Unit.  
Each call is assessed on a case-by-case basis. Calls pertaining to security matters, such 
as threats to staff or the location of contraband are usually referred directly to the warden 
at the affected institution. Information relating to gang members or gang activities is 
forwarded to the Office of Intelligence. Information regarding incidents or crimes occuring 
outside the correctional system is sent to the law enforcement agency having jurisdiction 
over the reported activity. 

In Fiscal Year 2017-18, approximately 404 reports were generated as a direct result of 
messages left on the "Prison TIPS line" which resulted in 367 new cases or complaint 
reviews initiated by the Intake Unit. 
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